RECEIVED

JUN 23 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEALS FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr.

Appellate Case No. 2012-213405

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

vs.

Rakeem D. King.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jenny L. Barwick
650 E. Washington Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 546-7601
Bar #: 076128

Robert M. Dudek
Post Office Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-1330
Bar #: 001767

Attorneys for Appellant

Statement of Issues Presented

Question I: Did the trial court err in charging the jury that attempted murder is a general intent crime, requiring merely malicious intent, and that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon?

Question II: Did the trial court err in allowing a witness to testify as to the amount of shots non-testifying witnesses heard?

Question III: Did the trial court err in admitting phone records, which led to a photo identification, when the search warrant for those records was based on a previous warrantless search for the same information requested in the search warrant?

Question IV: Did the trial court err in allowing the State to publish detention center phone calls the appellant allegedly made, when the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed any probative value?

Statement of the Case

Procedural Facts

On December 4, 2010, the State arrested Rakeem King on the charges of attempted murder in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29, armed robbery in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(A), and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490. The appellant was tried on November 5, 2012 through November 7, 2012 before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. and a jury. The appellant was convicted of all three crimes and sentenced to thirty years on the armed robbery, five years consecutive on the possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and ten years concurrent on the attempted murder charge. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on November 15, 2012.

Factual History

During the early morning hours of November 26, 2010, Dario Brown, a driver for the Yellow Cab Company, responded to a dispatch call to 1808 [REDACTED] Street. (R. p. 53; lines 2-17). Mr. Brown testified that it took him between one and two minutes to arrive to that address. (R. p. 58, lines 1-12). When Mr. Brown arrived at the address, the fare came from the yard of the residence across the street, which is 1809 [REDACTED] Street. (R. p. 60, lines 8-11). Mr. Brown was familiar with the street, as he used to live on the street for several years and had an aunt that lived on the street. (R. p. 53, lines 18-24). After the fare got into the back seat and because of Mr. Brown's familiarity with the street, Mr. Brown began questioning the fare why he was coming out of the yard of an abandoned residence. (R. p. 60, lines 14-24; R. p. 61, lines 13-17). The fare responded that it was his yard. (R. p. 61, lines 6-7).

Because the street was a dead-end, Mr. Brown proceeded to make a U-turn in the road. (R. p. 62, lines 16-18; R. p. 63, lines 8-11). At this time, Mr. Brown heard a pistol cocking, turned around and saw a gun raised, and heard the fare demand money. (R. p. 62, lines 18-21). Mr. Brown gave the fare "give away money", which Mr. Brown described as a stack of ones that is carried by cab drivers just in case they are robbed. (R. p. 64, lines 4-10). Mr. Brown estimated that there were between fifteen and twenty ones. (R. p. 97, line 10). Mr. Brown had already made eighty-three dollars in fares earlier in his shift. (R. p. 89, lines 17-19).

When the fare demanded more money, Mr. Brown tried to move the gun away from the back of his head by moving the gun with his elbow and forearm, telling the fare "he doesn't have to rob me." (R. p. 64, lines 23-25; R. p. 65, lines 2-4). Mr. Brown testified that he tried to move the gun three different times and that his hands were up. (R. p. 96, lines 14-15 and 19-20). The gun went off and Mr. Brown was struck in the elbow, while his arm was back. (R. p. 67, lines 15-19). Mr. Brown described the gun as a .25 caliber automatic, with a clip, that ejects shells upon firing. (R. p. 95, line 20-p. 96, line 5).

Mr. Brown then exited the cab, ran towards the dead-end, and hopped over a three or four foot chain-link fence, landing on his back, causing a fractured vertebrae. (R. p. 69, line 15-p. 70, line 5; R. p. 78, lines 22-23; R. p. 102, lines 1-2). Mr. Brown testified that while he was running towards the dead-end, the fare was about two steps behind him and fired another shot. (R. p. 68, lines 24-25; R. p. 101, lines 20-22). Mr. Brown claimed after hopping the fence and while lying on his back, the fare fired another round. (R. p. 70, lines 10-14). Mr. Brown then claimed that he was able to crawl behind a van in the yard, at which point the fare tried to shoot Mr. Brown by firing six or seven rounds. (R. p. 70, lines 16-19). Mr. Brown estimated the van to be about five to ten feet away from the fence. (R. p. 104, lines 3-4). Mr. Brown testified that as he was

behind the van, the fare said that “he is not going to shoot me anymore if I just give him the money.” (R. p. 73, lines 9-13). Mr. Brown also testified that the fare knew he went behind the van. (R. p. 73, lines 23-25). Mr. Brown then was able to use his cell phone to call law enforcement. (R. p. 74, lines 16-19). It took sixty seconds for law enforcement to arrive. (R. p. 104, lines 18-19). Mr. Brown had only been shot once, which was the shot to the arm he received while inside the cab. (R. p. 79, lines 1-3).

The Yellow Cab Company’s telephone operator testified that the call came in requesting a cab at 4:06:06 a.m. and that the dispatcher dispatched the cab driver out at 4:11:46 a.m. (R. p. 44, line 5- p. 45, line 12). The operator testified that the number that showed on his caller I.D. was XXX-4849. (R. p. 45, 24-p. 46, line 3).

Jennifer Butler, a patrolman with the North Charleston Police Department, was the first responding officer. (R. p. 114, lines 10-12; R. p. 120, lines 3-4). Officer Butler testified that she was dispatched to the scene at approximately 4:20 a.m. and arrived at approximately 4:21 a.m. (R. p. 110, lines 12-17). Officer Butler did not see the shooter on scene, did not see anyone running away, and did not see anybody picking up shell casings off the ground. (R. p. 113, lines 1-7; R. p. 119, lines 11-18). However, Officer Butler testified that a shell casing was found inside the cab. (R. p. 115, line 25-p. 116, line 7).

Kelly Murphy, the crime scene technician who was called out to the scene at approximately 4:30 a.m., testified that she has responded to over a thousand crimes scenes over a course of five years. (R. p. 123, lines 8-11; R. p. 125, line 19). Officer Murphy also testified that a shell casing, which was “just kind of laying [sic] there on the rear seat” was retrieved from the cab. (R. p. 127, lines 16-19; R. p. 137, lines 14-15). Officer Murphy stated that she and her supervisor were able to follow a blood trail through a yard at the end of [REDACTED] Street, but that

despite a thorough search, which took a little over two hours, Officer Murphy and three to four other officers were unable to find any other shell casings, other than the one found in the cab. (R. p. 130, lines 6-9; R. p. 132, lines 1-2; R. p. 139, lines 7-13; R. p. 140, lines 4-23).

On November 29, 2010 Mr. Brown was presented with a photo lineup, but was unable to identify any of the photos presented as being that of his fare. (R. p. 169, lines 14-16; R. p. 173, lines 20-21).

Because no identification was made in the first photo lineup, North Charleston Police Department focused its attention on investigating the number that called the Yellow Cab Company to request a dispatch to [REDACTED] Street on the November 26, 2010. (R. p. 193, lines 1-21). Detectives used internet sources to determine the number belonged to Cricket Wireless cell phone company. (R. p. 193, lines 12-16). The detectives then were able to find out the name of the subscriber was Kevin King, that the subscriber's date of birth was X/X/91, and that the address of the subscriber was listed as 3440 Elliott Street. (R. p. 193, line 19-p. 194, line 3). The State, during the appellant's pretrial search warrant suppression hearing, explained to the trial court that detectives found out the above information when they went to Cricket Wireless store and asked for the information, which was given without a search warrant. (R. p. 10, lines 8-p.11, line 5).

The detectives were not able to find a Kevin King living at 3440 Elliott Street, but were able to research the name King with the date of birth provided by the cell phone company and came up with the name Rakeem King, date of birth X/X/91. (R. p. 194, line 23-p. 195, line 5). Detectives then looked up Rakeem King's driver's license and discovered that his listed address was 3440 Osceola Street. (R. p. 195, lines 10-12). Based on this information, detectives compiled a photo line-up and presented it to Mr. Brown on December 3, 2010. (R. p. 195, lines

23-24; R. p. 13, lines 11-14). Mr. Brown selected Rakeem King as the person who robbed and shot him. (R. p. 196, lines 21-23). That photo-lineup identification completed the investigation and warrants were taken out on Rakeem King the next day. (R. p. 197, line 25-p. 198, line 2. It is undisputed that the only evidence presented placing the appellant at the scene is Mr. Brown's photo identification. Although fingerprints and DNA were found at the scene, the fingerprints and DNA did not belong to the appellant. (R. p. 133, line 11-p. 135, line 21).

On February 10, 2012, North Charleston Police Department obtained a search warrant directed to the Custodian of Record for Cricket Communications, Inc. regarding telephone number XXX-XXX-4849 for the subscriber's name and mailing/billing address, call details, and other information. (R. pp. 297-311). The Affidavit accompanying the search warrant stated the following: "During the course of the investigation[,] the aforementioned phone number was determined to be a Cricket Wireless number which belonged to the appellant." (R. p. 300).

Argument

Question I

Did the trial court err in charging the jury that attempted murder is a general intent crime, requiring merely malicious intent, and that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon?

a. Attempted Murder is not a general intent crime, but a specific intent crime.

During its closing, the State argued to the jury the following: "The Judge will tell you[,] you do not have to intent to kill in order to be guilty of this offense [of attempted murder]. You must have the requisite [m]alice. The Judge will tell you that; don't just take it from me." (R. p. 238, lines 19-22). At this point, the defense objected based on the charge conference, and the objection was overruled. (R. p. 238, line 25-p. 239, line 5).

The trial court instructed the jury that attempted murder occurs when “a person with the intent to kill attempts to kill another person with [m]alice [a]forethought[,] whether expressed or implied[,] commits the crime of Attempted Murder. (R. p. 259, lines 3-6). The trial court went on to instruct the jury that “[a] specific intent to kill is not an element of Attempted Murder but it must be a general intent to commit serious bodily harm.” (R. p. 260, lines 22-24). The trial court went even further in instructing that “[i]ntent may also be inferred when it is demonstrated the appellant voluntarily and willfully commits and act in a natural tendency which is to destroy another’s life.” (R. p. 261, lines 8-11). The defense took exception to the charge on attempted murder, stating that it was a specific intent crime. (R. p. 268, lines 10-13 and 18-25). The trial court ruled that attempted murder is a general attempt crime requiring only a showing of malice. (R. p. 270, lines 9-21).

During deliberations, the jury came back with a question stating: “We’d like further clarification of the difference between attempted murder and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature.” (R. p. 312). The hypotheticals presented by the jury in Court’s Exhibit 2 clearly demonstrate that the jury struggled with general intent (malice) versus specific intent (intent to kill): “If someone points a gun at a person’s head, but does not fire, does that fulfill the definition of attempted murder?”

The Court explained to the jury that “[t]he basic difference between attempted murder and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature is assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature does not require malice. Malice is a hatred, ill will or hostility towards another person and is the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse and with the intent to inflict injury or under circumstances that the law would infer as evil intent.” (R. p. 273, lines 10-17). The trial court had previously instructed the jury that “[a] person

commits the offense of Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature if the person unlawfully injures another and great bodily injury to another person results when the act is accomplishe[d] by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury.” (R. p. 261, lines 13-18). The defense objected to the trial court’s answer to the jury and was again overruled. (R. p. 274, line 14-p. 275, line 4). The charge book was in the possession of the jury during the entire length of deliberations. (R. p. 275, lines 5-7).

Attempted murder is defined by statute as: “A person who, *with intent to kill*, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (emphasis added). This statute became effective on June 2, 2010 and replaced the former common law statute of assault and battery with intent to kill, formerly S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-620 (see legislative history of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29).

“To prove attempt, the State must prove that the appellant had the specific intent to commit the underlying offense, along with some overt act, beyond mere preparation, in furtherance of the intent.” *State v. Reid*, 393 S.C. 325, 329, 713 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2011). “In the context of an attempt crime, specific intent means the appellant intended to complete the acts comprising the underlying offense.” *Id.* According to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10, “‘Murder’ is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” It follows from the logic in *State v. Reid*, that in order to attempt to kill someone, one must intend the killing of that person. One cannot accidentally attempt to commit a crime.

Also, when the trial court gave the charge for the attempted armed robbery, the court instructed the jury that “[a]n attempt includes a *specific intent* to do a particular criminal act along with the act falling short of the act intended.” (R. p. 258, lines 19-21). The trial court went further in explaining to the jury that “[i]ntent means intending the results which actually

occurred not accidentally or involuntarily.” (R. p. 258, lines 23-25). By the trial court’s own instruction on the charge of attempt, attempt is a specific intent crime where the result (death) must be intended.

In *State v. Sutton*, the appellant was convicted of assault and battery with intent to kill [ABIK], attempted murder, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000). The Supreme Court, in its decision, affirmed the Court of Appeals decision to vacate the appellant’s attempted murder conviction, but declined to follow the Court of Appeals reasoning that ABIK and attempted murder are the same offense. *Sutton*, 340 S.C. at 396, 532 S.E.2d at 285. The Supreme Court held that “[a]ttempted murder would require the specific intent to kill and conduct towards that end. ABIK requires an unlawful act of violence to the person of another with malice. Clearly, each offense has an element the other does not. However, simply because convictions for both offenses would not violate double jeopardy, we are not constrained to recognize the offense of attempted murder.” The Supreme Court held that the “common law offense[] of ABIK . . . adequately cover[s] the conduct which attempted murder would include.” *Sutton*, 340 S.C. at 397, 532 S.E.2d at 285 (emphasis added). Since the holding in *Sutton*, the South Carolina Legislature enacted the attempted murder statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (effective June 2, 2010).

b. *The “use of a deadly weapon” implied malice instruction should not have been given when there was evidence presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the killing.*

The trial court explained to the jury that “[m]alice is a hatred, ill will, or hostility towards another person [and] is the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse with an intent to inflict an injury [or] under circumstances that the law will infer as evil intent.” (R. p.

259, lines 6-10). The trial court, in answering the jury's question (R. p. 312), put in the words it originally left out in its jury instruction on malice: "[m]alice is a hatred, ill will or hostility towards another person *and* is the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse and with the intent to inflict injury *or* under circumstances that the law would infer as evil." (R. p. 273, lines 13-17 (emphasis added)). The trial court, in its original jury instruction, went on to instruct the jury that "[i]nferred malice may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon." (R. p. 260, lines 4-5). The defense objected to the "use of a deadly weapon" implied malice instruction and cited *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009).

According to *State v. Belcher*, the Court held that such an instruction "has no place in a murder (or assault and battery with intent to kill) prosecution where *evidence is presented* that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the killing (or the alleged assault and battery with intent to kill)." *Belcher*, 385 S.C. at 610, 685 S.E.2d at 809 (emphasis added). In reversing the appellant's conviction, the Court went on to state that such a charge cannot be considered harmless and that "[i]t is entirely conceivable that the only evidence of malice was [the appellant's] use of a handgun." 385 S.C. at 612, 685 S.E.2d at 810.

Mr. Brown testified that he tried to move the gun away from the back of his head by moving the gun with his elbow and forearm three different times and that Mr. Brown's hands were up. (R. p. 64, lines 23-25; R. p. 96, lines 14-15 and 19-20). The gun went off and Mr. Brown was struck in the elbow, while his arm was back. (R. p. 67, lines 15-19). The defense, in its closing argument, makes a very probable argument that the fare was merely using the gun as a scare tactic to successfully receive money from Mr. Brown, that the fare never intended the gun to fire, and that the gun only fired when Mr. Brown was trying to move the gun with his elbow

and forearm. (R. 246, lines 10-24). If the gun was accidentally fired, this certainly reduces, mitigates, excuses or justifies Mr. Brown being shot in the arm.

The argument that the error in the instruction was harmless because malice could have been inferred from multiple gun shots holds no weight. The jury could quite possibly have not believed Mr. Brown when he testified there were additional shots fired after he left the cab. Other than Mr. Brown's testimony, there is no admissible evidence that the fare fired more than the one time inside the cab (*see* Question II, *infra*, on improperly admitting a witness to testify as to the amount of shots non-testifying witnesses heard). In fact, it may be inferred from the jury's hypotheticals in its questions to the trial court regarding the difference between attempted murder and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature that at least one member of the jury did believe any other shot was fired other than the one inside the cab: "If someone points a gun at a person's head, but does not fire, does that fulfill the definition of attempted murder?" (R. p. 312). There was evidence presented that gun was only fired once. Only one shell casing was discovered, despite a thorough search for more (two hour search with four to five trained officers searching). (R. p. 127, lines 16-19; R. p. 140, lines 4-23). The State tried to justify the absence of any shell casings by pointing out that it was dark outside during the search and the shell casings were small. (R. p. 139, lines 7-13; R. p. 140, lines 4-23). However, Officer Murphy was able to locate a blood trail under the same conditions. (R. p. 130, lines 6-9).

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