ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal From Charleston County  
The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213405  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
JUL 08 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RAHEEM D. KING,

Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

malice instruction, the error is subject to harmless error analysis, and harmless error may arise when evidence of malice is not limited to the use of a deadly weapon. State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 741 S.E.2d 708, 714 (2013).

In Price, 400 S.C. 110, the Court of Appeals held the trial court did not err in instructing the jury malice could be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon. Price, 732 S.E.2d at 654. The defendant was charged with ABWIK, and the trial court instructed the jury “malice may be inferred from the conduct of a person if that conduct shows a total disregard for human life,” and it “may arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon.” *Id.* The trial court also charged ABHAN as a lesser-included offense. *Id.*

On appeal, the defendant argued his theory that the shooting may have been part of a drug deal gone wrong precluded the deadly weapon inference charge. In rejecting that contention, the Court stated:

It is undisputed that someone shot Deon in the neck, causing him serious injury. The shooter raised the gun, pointed it at Deon, approached him, and shot him at close range as he stood with his hands up. There was no evidence to the contrary. There may have been conflicting evidence as to who did these things, but it is not possible to interpret the evidence to support any conclusion other than that the person who shot Deon committed ABWIK. Therefore, if the jury believed Price is the person who shot Deon, Price is necessarily guilty of ABWIK.

*Id.*

In Stanko, the defendant argued the trial court erred in instructing the jury it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon when the defendant had presented an insanity defense. 741 S.E.2d at 711. The Supreme Court held the defendant’s evidence of insanity was sufficient to preclude the deadly weapon inference charge, but found the error in giving it was harmless. *Id.* at 713-714. In reaching its harmless error conclusion, the Court distinguished Belcher:

The State presented uncontested evidence that Appellant shot the Victim, his elderly and unarmed friend, in the back using a pillow as a silencer. Appellant then robbed the Victim, and for the next several days used his automobile to travel across the state, where he engaged in social activities and drinking. Authorities apprehended Appellant in possession of the Victim's vehicle and the gun used in the murder. Thus, the evidence of malice in this case is not limited to Appellant's use of a deadly weapon. See Belcher, 385 S.C. at 612, 685 S.E.2d at 810 (“It is entirely conceivable that the only evidence of malice was Belcher's use of a handgun.”).

*Id.*

The Court also analyzed the trial court's jury instructions as a whole and found they were consistent with the evidence presented. The court observed:

The trial court instructed the jury that inferred malice may arise when the “deed is done with a deadly weapon.” **The trial court also stated that malice “can be inferred from conduct showing total disregard for human life.”** Appellant only contests the “deadly weapon” language. However, if the jury rejected Appellant's insanity defense, which it did, **the jury could also find that Appellant's conduct showed a total disregard for human life.** Thus, Appellant could not have suffered prejudice from any separate inference that his use of a deadly weapon also gave rise to an inference of malice.

*Id.* at 715 (emphasis added).

In this case, the circuit court charged the jury malice may be inferred from conduct showing a disregard for human life, and may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon. (TT, p. 394, R., p. 260). Appellant only objected to the deadly weapon inference charge based on Belcher, and argued the jury could find Mr. Brown caused the gun to fire by trying to move the gun away from his head with his forearm, which would mitigate, excuse or justify the offense. (TT, p. 403, R., p. 269). In overruling the objection, the circuit court stated: “I don't think there is any evidence for accident, voluntarily, manslaughter, or self-defense or any other facts that would justify imposing Belcher in this case.” (TT, p. 405, R., p. 271).

As in Price, there was no evidence in this case that would reduce, mitigate, or justify the attempted murder offense. The evidence established Appellant pointed a loaded and cocked gun at Mr. Brown's head, and in fear for his life, Mr. Brown attempted to move the gun away from his head with his forearm. Appellant brought the gun **back** to Mr. Brown's head after his first two attempts to move it away, and on the third attempt, he shot Mr. Brown in the arm.<sup>3</sup> (TT, pp. 172-173; R., pp. 62-63). Even if Appellant's contention Mr. Brown's movement caused the gun to fire is true, it does not obviate the fact Appellant held a loaded and cocked gun to Mr. Brown's head, which, at a minimum, shows a total disregard for human life.

Further, after the shooting Mr. Brown in the cab, Appellant fired multiple shots while chasing him down the street as he tried to get away. Appellant then shot at Mr. Brown as he lay on the ground with a fractured vertebrae. (TT, pp. 180-183; R., pp. 70-73). Thus, Appellant's use of a gun was not the only evidence of his malice.

Appellant also argues the circuit court's jury charges on the lesser included crimes of ABHAN and first degree assault and battery indicate the court necessarily found there was evidence to reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the shooting. Appellant's argument presumes the lesser included offense charges were warranted, which the State disputes.

The charge conference was not on the record, so the State's position on the lesser included charges is not reflected in the record. In his closing argument, however, the solicitor argued the lesser included charges "do not apply," and Appellant's conduct was nothing less than attempted murder. (TT, pp. 367-370; R., pp. 239-242). The State

---

<sup>3</sup> Mr. Brown's attempt to move the gun from his head probably saved his life by causing the bullet to enter his arm rather than his head.

submits the lesser included jury charges were not warranted based on the evidence presented at trial.

Appellant held a loaded and cocked gun to Mr. Brown's head, and after he shot Mr. Brown, he chased him down the street, and continued shooting at him, even after Mr. Brown was flat on his back on the ground. Appellant's contention Mr. Brown himself caused his gunshot wound by trying to knock the gun away from his head does not reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the offense of attempted murder.<sup>4</sup> See Price 732 S.E.2d at 654 (defendant's claim that shooting was result of drug deal gone bad was not sufficient to warrant lesser included offense charges in face of evidence the shooter raised the gun, pointed it at victim, approached victim and shot him in the neck at close range).

Finally, any alleged error in the circuit court's jury instructions was harmless. See Belcher, 685 S.E.2d at 809 ("Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis."). The State presented ample evidence Appellant exhibited a total disregard for human life. As discussed above, Appellant pointed a loaded and cocked gun at Mr. Brown's head. After he shot Mr. Brown inside the cab, he shot at him several more times while chasing him down the street, and then again when Mr. Brown was flat on his back. Based on the evidence, the jury could easily find Appellant's conduct showed a total disregard for human life, and he "could not have suffered prejudice from any separate inference that his use of a deadly weapon also gave rise to an inference of malice." Stanko, 741 S.E.2d at 715.

---

<sup>4</sup>In essence, Appellant's theory of the case is that Mr. Brown was the author of his own misfortune, which is inherently offensive.

The circuit court charge as a whole was substantially correct and adequately covered the applicable law. Accordingly, the circuit court should be affirmed on this issue.

**II. The circuit court properly admitted a police officer's testimony regarding what she learned during the course of the investigation.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting Officer Butler's testimony regarding what her investigation after the crime revealed. Officer Butler testified she canvassed the surrounding neighborhood that night and learned approximately three or four shots were fired. Officer Butler's testimony was not inadmissible hearsay, but even if this Court finds it was inadmissible, any error in admitting it was harmless.

Decisions to admit or exclude evidence rest in the sound discretion of the trial judge and will only be reversed on appeal for an abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). "A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice." State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). "Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict." State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

**A. Hearsay.**

Hearsay is "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c), SCRE. In South Carolina, hearsay is inadmissible "except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute." Rule 802, SCRE.

Testimony of a police officer regarding his conclusions from an investigation is not hearsay. State v. Weaver, 361 S.C. 73, 602 S.E.2d 786, 792-93 (Ct. App. 2004), *aff'd as modified*, 374 S.C. 313, 649 S.E.2d 479 (2007) (officer's testimony that all the evidence gathered at the scene, including interviews with witnesses, led to the defendant was not inadmissible hearsay; officer never repeated statements made to him by individuals at the crime scene, or testified to any specific statements identifying the defendant). Even if an officer's testimony regarding parts of his investigation is considered "some form of indirect hearsay," admitting it is not an abuse of discretion if the officer does not repeat the out of court statements. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490, 498 (2013).

Similar to the police officer in Weaver, Officer Butler merely testified about what her investigation at the crime scene revealed. She did not repeat any specific statements made by the people she interviewed, and nothing she related identified Appellant as the shooter. Therefore, her testimony was not inadmissible hearsay.

#### **B. Harmless Error.**

Even if improper hearsay evidence is admitted, any error in admitting it is subject to a harmless error analysis, and reversal is warranted only if it results in actual prejudice. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006). Appellate courts generally will not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Wyatt, 317 S.C. 370, 372, 453 S.E.2d 890, 891 (1995) ("While we agree there was error, appellant cannot show sufficient prejudice from it to warrant reversal.") State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991).

If an error in the admission is found, the appellate court must review the evidence considered at trial other than the erroneously admitted evidence. Baccus, 625 S.E.2d at

223. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”).

Even if the circuit court erred in admitting Officer Butler’s testimony in this case, any error was harmless in light of the other evidence presented during trial. As noted above, Officer Butler’s testimony regarding what she learned during her investigation did not implicate Appellant in the crime, or even mention Appellant in any context. Further, her testimony regarding the number of shots fired that night was cumulative to Mr. Brown’s testimony Appellant fired six or seven shots that night. (TT, p. 179-180; R., pp. 69-70). See State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 751 S.E.2d 645, 662 (2013) (“Improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless.”) (*quoting* State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93–94 [2011]).

Appellant contends the jury’s hypothetical question regarding whether pointing a gun at someone’s head and not pulling the trigger would be attempted murder somehow proves a juror did not believe any other shots were fired that night. While the contention is wildly speculative, even if true, it establishes the harmless nature of Officer Butler’s testimony regarding the number of shots fired. If the jury was focused on the one shot fired inside the cab, and what led up to it, it was not focused on the number of shots fired.

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Officer Butler's testimony regarding what she learned during her investigation. Even if the testimony at issue was erroneously admitted, however, any error was harmless. Therefore, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

**III. The circuit court properly admitted phone records revealing subscriber information for the phone number used to summon the cab because Appellant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy regarding the information.**

Appellant asserts law enforcement conducted an illegal warrantless search without an exception to the warrant requirement when they obtained his subscriber information from Cricket Wireless, which led to the inclusion of his photo in a photo lineup. As a threshold matter, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Even if preserved, Appellant's assertion is meritless.

**A. Preservation**

An argument not raised and ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appeal. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118, 120 (1997). Specific ground for objection must be raised at trial to preserve issue for appeal); Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001). A defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal. State v. Beekman, 405 S.C. 225, 746 S.E.2d 483, 489 (Ct. App.) (citing State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 [2000]). Failure to object when evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the issue on appeal. State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997).

Appellant's motion to suppress the Cricket Wireless information was based **solely** on alleged insufficiencies of the affidavit used to obtain a search warrant for the Cricket Wireless information two years after Appellant's arrest. Specifically, he contended the affidavit contained conclusory and misleading statements. He never asserted the investigators' original actions in obtaining the subscriber information without a warrant were unconstitutional, even after the State specifically noted the investigators "went to the Cricket Wireless store and just asked them who is the subscriber for this

information,” and “[i]t wasn’t a search warrant.”<sup>5</sup> (TT, pp. 59-69; R., pp. 2-12). Further, Appellant did not object to Detective Evans’ testimony about getting the subscriber information from Cricket Wireless early in the investigation, exactly what information was received, and how that information led to the photo lineup with Appellant’s photo. (TT, pp. 306-309; R., pp. 193-196). Accordingly, he cannot challenge the constitutionality of the investigators’ actions for the first time on appeal, and the issue is not properly before this Court.

### **B. Merits**

Even if the constitutional issue Appellant now raises was preserved, however, Appellant’s argument is meritless. Simply stated, Appellant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the subscriber information he voluntarily conveyed to Cricket Wireless.<sup>6</sup>

The Fourth Amendment provides, in relevant part, the “right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 360 (1967).

---

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